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INTEREST OF AMICI TC "INTEREST OF AMICI" \f C \l "1" 
Amici, like the counterclaimant ATX Communications, are competitive local exchange carriers, associations of them, and an association of internet service providers, that have been working to bring consumers the local telephone choice and innovation contemplated by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“1996 Act”).  Verizon and other incumbent local exchange carriers have responded to this threat of competition by engaging in an anticompetitive campaign to preserve their dominant positions, thereby unlawfully monopolizing local wireline telephone service markets.  If the court were to dismiss ATX’s antitrust counterclaim on a Rule 12 motion, it would effectively grant Verizon immunity from the antitrust laws.  Such a ruling would be clearly erroneous and would, if followed, have far-reaching negative consequences for competition and consumer welfare, and for amici.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE TC "STATEMENT OF THE CASE" \f C \l "1" 
Verizon requests that this court dismiss the antitrust counterclaim of ATX Communications Inc. because it is related to Verizon’s duties under the Telecommunications Act of 1996.  As explained in detail below, such a dismissal would simply be wrong.  It would also conflict with the decisions of the Second and Eleventh Circuits.
  Most fundamentally, such a dismissal is squarely foreclosed by the previous decisions of the Third Circuit and virtually every other court of appeals that held that § 2 of the Sherman Act was fully applicable to prior and legally indistinguishable efforts of Verizon’s predecessors and other “Bell Operating Companies” (“BOCs”) to use their control over local “loops” (the wires that run from customer premises to local telephone company switches) and other bottleneck local facilities to monopolize other markets (long distance services and customer premises equipment) that the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) and state regulatory authorities were then attempting to open to competition.

In each of these prior cases, as here, the FCC had adopted regulations under the Communications Act that required BOCs to allow competitors in adjacent markets to access the same local bottleneck facilities at issue here—the local loop—and individual competitors alleged that the BOCs had acted predatorily and in bad faith to delay access, to deny it altogether for certain services, or to deny it on reasonable terms.  The Third Circuit and other courts uniformly held that these claims are actionable under the antitrust laws as bad faith denials of access to essential facilities, as predatory refusals to deal, or as misconduct that is unreasonably exclusionary.  They uniformly rejected claims that the Communications Act immunized the challenged conduct from the antitrust laws.  And while the Third Circuit and other courts recognized that it was possible that the challenged access denials by BOCs could have represented reasonable and good faith attempts to satisfy regulatory requirements, they held that this was a question of fact to be litigated, not grounds for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6).

Antitrust thus played a critical role in the ultimate successful development of competitive long distance and equipment markets.  In addition to the effect that actual and threatened treble damages judgments had on BOCs’ incentives to afford access to bottleneck facilities on reasonable terms, a structural antitrust decree (“MFJ”) was entered in a Government antitrust case that minimized BOCs’ incentives to misuse their bottleneck facilities to impede competition—and was premised on the ground that access regulations could not adequately prevent such misconduct by bottleneck monopolists.

These earlier decisions apply, a fortiori, to the instant case.  Certain of the 1996 Act provisions were expressly modeled on the interconnection and access regulations that the FCC had adopted to foster competition in long distance and equipment markets.  Where incumbents deny reasonable access to essential facilities in bad faith or otherwise engage in predatory conduct, Congress plainly intended to allow the antitrust laws to play the same role in opening local telephone services to competition that it had played in opening long distance and equipment markets.  Indeed, whereas the Communications Act was formerly silent on the role of antitrust, Congress enacted an explicit antitrust savings clause in the 1996 Act.

1.  The FCC’s Prior Long Distance And CPE Regulations. TC "1.  The FCC’s Prior Long Distance And CPE Regulations." \f C \l "2"   Prior to the late 1960s, virtually all telecommunications services and equipment in the United States was provided to customers by monopolies franchised by state utility commissions to serve designated geographic areas.  These entities—now known as “incumbent local exchange carriers,” or “ILECs,” the largest of which are Verizon and the other BOCs—obtained and installed not only the local loops, switching, and transport facilities that today comprise the local exchange network, but also all telephone instruments and other customer premises equipment (“CPE”).  Each ILEC further provided (through contractual relationships with other ILECs and their affiliates) all long distance service used by its subscribers.  

There were not then separate markets for local service, long distance service, and CPE.  Rather, there was a single market for end-to-end telephone service which included local and long distance calling and the telephone instruments on the two ends of each call.

The BOCs were then franchised monopolies that collectively provided telephone service and equipment to over 80% of the nation’s customers.  The BOCs were owned by AT&T and were part of the Bell System.  The Bell System also included AT&T Long Lines (which owned certain interstate intercity transmission facilities), Bell Telephone Laboratories (which engineered the local and intercity transmission facilities and designed the telecommunications equipment used in them), and Western Electric (which manufactured that equipment). 

In the late 1960s, the FCC attempted to introduce competition into two segments of telecommunications—long distance services and the provision of CPE—and established long distance and CPE as markets separate from local service.
  The FCC thus adopted regulations that required ILECs to reconfigure their end-to-end services so that CPE and long distance was unbundled from local loops, switching, and transport facilities—such that customers could obtain local services from the incumbent and obtain long distance or CPE from competitors.  Because new entrants could not offer competing services unless they could access the ILECs’ local loops and other facilities on reasonable terms, the FCC further adopted interconnection regulations that were designed to give competitors these access rights.

However, ILECs had both the ability and the overwhelming incentive to use their control over local loops and other local facilities to delay, impede, or potentially even to prevent competition in downstream markets, and BOCs acted on these incentives.  They first delayed implementation of access arrangements and thereafter exploited real or imagined ambiguity in the regulations to discriminate against competitors and to require competitors and monopoly ratepayers to cross-subsidize the BOCs’ own competitive offerings.  See, e.g., Essential Communications, Sys., Inc. v. AT&T, 610 F.2d 1114 (3d Cir. 1979).  Each time the FCC acted to plug one claimed loophole in its access regulations, BOCs would “shift from one anticompetitive activity to another.”  United States v. AT&T, 552 F. Supp. 131, 167 (D.D.C. 1982), aff’d 460 U.S. 1003 (1983). 

For example, the FCC initially sought to introduce competition into the provision of CPE merely by invalidating LECs’ tariff prohibitions against interconnection to their loops of other firms’ equipment.  See Carterfone, 13 F.C.C.2d 420 (1968).  The LECs responded by imposing complicated requirements that they purported to justify on technical grounds—which were found to be shams in subsequent antitrust suits
—that made it more expensive to interconnect competitors’ CPE than to use LEC-provided equipment.  Over the next decade, the FCC responded to these and other forms of anticompetitive conduct by adopting increasingly more detailed technical regulations, separate subsidiary requirements, and nonstructural safeguards.  See, e.g., 47 C.F.R. §§ 68.1-68.506; Second Computer Inquiry, 77 F.C.C.2d 384 (1980); Joint Cost Order, 2 FCC Rcd 1298 (1987).

The problems presented by the introduction of long distance competition proved even more intractable.  The FCC’s Specialized Common Carrier decision required BOCs to lease dedicated local loops and transmission facilities to competing long distance carriers for private line and other long distance services.  But BOCs delayed the implementation of these arrangements for years through what was later found to be bad faith misconduct.  See MCI Communications Corp. v. AT&T, 708 F.2d 1081, 1158-59 (7th Cir. 1983).  They then refused to provide connections for certain private line services by claiming that the competitive provision of them had not been authorized by the FCC.  Id. at 1095.  After the FCC held that those services had been authorized, it ordered BOCs to provide access to competing long distance carriers on the same rates, terms, and conditions that BOCs’ long distance services enjoyed.  Bell Sys. Tariff Offerings of Local Distribution Facilities, 46 F.C.C.2d 413, 439 (1974).  But BOCs repeatedly offered rates, terms, and conditions that the FCC found to be unreasonable and discriminatory.  MCI Telecomm. Corp. v. FCC, 712 F.2d 517 (D.C. Cir. 1983); ENFIA Order, 91 F.C.C.2d 1079 (1982); ENFIA Recons. Order, 93 FCC 2d 739 (1983).

2.  The Prior Antitrust Litigation Against BOCs. TC "2.  The Prior Antitrust Litigation Against BOCs." \f C \l "2"   BOCs’ efforts to forestall competition in the equipment and long distance markets led to over 70 private treble damage antitrust cases and an action for structural relief brought by the United States.  Each of these cases alleged that BOCs had engaged in actual or attempted monopolization by misusing control over bottleneck local facilities to delay, impede, or prevent competition in the long distance and equipment markets that had been opened to competition by FCC regulations.  

The Bell System moved to dismiss each such case on the ground that the FCC’s regulations had created the competitive opportunities and that the lawfulness of the Bell System’s conduct was governed exclusively by the Communications Act and state regulations.  The Bell System argued in the alternative that the particular conduct challenged was immune from antitrust liability because it was required or approved by the FCC or state regulators.  Courts uniformly rejected all those “implied immunity” and “state action” arguments.
  For example, the Third Circuit held that “there would be no conflict between the [FCC] tariff and the [antitrust] injunction.”  Essential Communications, 610 F.2d at 1124; see also Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 994, 999-1000 (it is “well settled” that no “repugnancy” exists between “the antitrust laws and the regulatory scheme applicable to [the Bell System’s] pricing and interconnection decisions”); Litton, 700 F.2d at 807; Mid-Texas, 615 F.2d at 1377-82.  As the MCI court observed, “the interconnection policies adopted by the FCC during the time period relevant to this litigation appear designed to promote rather than inhibit competition in the specialized telecommunications field.  Thus, the allowance of antitrust liability is likely to complement rather than undermine the applicable statutory scheme.”  708 F.2d at 1104; see also Essential Communications, 610 F.2d at 1117; Phonetele, 664 F.2d at 733-34; 

At the same time, courts held that the Bell System could claim its practices did not constitute the “willful acquisition or maintenance of monopoly power” that violated § 2 of the Sherman Act because those practices “represented a good faith attempt to comply with . . . regulatory obligations under . . . the Communications Act.”  MCI, 708 F.2d at 1107-08; see also Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 1009-10; Phonetele, 664 F.2d at 737-38.  This issue of “good faith” was an issue of fact, not grounds for a motion to dismiss.  Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 1009-10; MCI, 708 F.2d at 1109; Phonetele, 664 F.2d at 738.

Discovery in these antitrust actions unearthed substantial evidence that the BOCs had not engaged in good faith efforts to allow competitors to access local facilities in accord with the letter and spirit of the FCC’s access regulations or in accord with the business practices that would have been followed if BOCs had not been a competitor in downstream markets that used the bottleneck local loops and other facilities.  The evidence showed that the BOCs had acted in bad faith, that there was no technical, regulatory, or other legitimate business justification for their conduct, and that the sole reason for it was to prevent or delay competitive services that consumers demanded.  While nearly all of the 70 private antitrust actions were settled, in several cases juries found antitrust liability and substantial treble damages judgments were entered.

The Justice Department relied on this same evidence in its antitrust action.  See United States v. AT&T, 524 F. Supp. 1336 (D.D.C. 1981).  In addition, it introduced substantial evidence that the access regulations administered by the FCC and state public utility commissions were not capable of preventing recurrence of the types of misconduct that had been alleged.  Its evidence was that, due to the complexity and dynamic nature of local exchanges, FCC and state regulations that defined rights of access to exchanges could never foresee and proscribe in advance all the forms of misconduct that BOCs could engage in to impede competition and, even if they could, after-the-fact remedies were insufficient to deter the misconduct.  It thus contended that the only remedy that could prevent recurrence of the challenged conduct was structural separation of the BOCs’ local exchange monopolies from competitive long distance and equipment businesses.  Id.; United States v. AT&T, 552 F. Supp 131, 139-44 (D.D.C. 1982), aff’d 460 U.S. 1003 (1983).

On behalf of the Bell System, AT&T stipulated to an antitrust decree (“the MFJ”) that granted the relief that the Justice Department had sought.  It (1) required that the Bell System be split between its local operations (assigned to the BOCs) and its long distance and equipment operations (assigned to AT&T) and (2) barred the BOCs from providing long distance service for so long as they had local monopolies.  Id. at 160-70, 186-89.  However, the MFJ did nothing to eliminate local exchange monopolies. 

3.  The 1996 Act And Its Local Competition Provisions. TC "3.  The 1996 Act And Its Local Competition Provisions." \f C \l "2"   The combination of the FCC’s interconnection and access regulations and the antitrust laws led to the development of intensely competitive long distance and CPE markets.  In the 1996 Act, Congress sought to apply these same mechanisms to allow competition to develop in local telecommunications “as quickly as possible.”  H.R. Rep. No. 104-204 at 89.  The 1996 Act thus (1) authorizes competitive local services, (2) provides for, among other things, regulations allowing competitive local carriers to access bottleneck and other local facilities on reasonable terms, and (3) relies on antitrust remedies to assure that incumbents do not unreasonably delay, frustrate, or obstruct efforts of competitors to obtain access and to offer competing services.  

First, § 253 of the Act authorizes the competitive provision of any local or other telecommunications service.  It preempts any state law that has the “effect” of preventing any firm from offering any telecommunications services.  47 U.S.C. § 253.  

Second, Congress recognized that simply eliminating legal barriers to entry was inadequate, for local loops and other facilities needed to provide existing or innovative new local services had some degree of natural monopoly characteristics and could not be economically replicated or could not be economically used by new entrants.  Thus, in addition to imposing obligations to provide wholesale services for resale and other duties (§§ 251(a), 251(b), & 251(c)(4)), § 251 imposed a duty on LECs to “interconnect” with competitors’ networks and to allow competitors to access local loops and other “unbundled network elements” on rates, terms, and conditions that are just, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory.  Id. §§ 251(c)(2) & (3).  The Act also requires incumbents to allow physical collocation of competitors’ equipment “necessary for interconnection or access to network elements.”  Id. § 251(c)(6).  

The duties imposed by § 251 are not self-executing.  Congress provided for their implementation through a four-step process of (1) FCC regulations that define the access and other obligations (§ 251(d)), (2) negotiation of interconnection agreements between ILECs and CLECs (§§ 251(c)(1) & 251(a)), (3) arbitration by state utility commissions of terms that are not agreed upon (§ 252(c)), and (4) further state proceedings to determine if provisions of interconnection agreements have been in fact implemented or to resolve disputes (§ 252(c)(3); see § 271(c)(1)(B)(ii)).

Finally, in recognition that ILECs could act in bad faith to delay or obstruct access to essential and other facilities on reasonable terms, Congress repeatedly made explicit that antitrust remedies would be fully applicable to such misconduct by BOCs.  See id. § 601(b) (“nothing in this Act or amendments made by this Act shall be construed to modify, impair, or supersede the applicability of any of the antitrust laws”); id. § 601(c) (“This Act and the amendments made by this Act shall not be construed to modify, impair, or supersede Federal, State, or local laws unless expressly provided in such Act or amendments.”); see also President’s Statement Upon Signing § 652, reprinted in 1996 U.S.C.C.A.N. 228-1, 228-3 (savings clause “ensures that even for activities allowed under or required by the legislation, or activities resulting from FCC rulemakings or orders, the antitrust laws continue to apply fully”).  The FCC’s regulations thus state that they do not create antitrust immunity.  Local Competition, 11 FCC Rcd. 15499, ¶ 129 (1996). 

4.  This Action. TC "4.  This Action." \f C \l "2"   ATX is a competitive LEC that wishes to use its own packet switching facilities and network to provide specialized local services.  But to do so, it must obtain access to Verizon’s local loops or to capabilities of them.  ATX alleges that its services would threaten counterdefendant Verizon’s market power in two different product markets:  local wireline telephone services for business customers and local wireline telephone services for residential customers in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic states.

ATX also alleges that Verizon has monopolized these markets by engaging in predatory and unreasonably exclusionary conduct that delayed or denied ATX’s ability to obtain reasonable access to local loops and other essential facilities or that otherwise interfered with ATX’s ability to offer competing service.  ATX alleges that the conduct was undertaken in bad faith and for the purpose of delaying competitors’ service, imposing regulatory costs on them, and frustrating their ability to compete.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT TC "INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT" \f C \l "1" 
The issues in this case have profound importance for the development of local telephone competition.  Through relentless campaigns of non-cooperation and anticompetitive conduct, Verizon and other ILECs have effectively resisted efforts to open local telephone markets.  See, e.g., ALTS, The State of Local Competition 2002, available at http://www.alts.org/Filings/2002AnnualReport.ppt.  As a result, nearly seven years after Congress passed the 1996 Act, ILECs continue to maintain bottleneck control over facilities used to provide almost all local telephone services.  The immediate “prospects for local competition look abysmal,” according to analysts, because “[i]n most of the country, it is just not happening.”
  The CLEC industry now stands on the verge of collapse.  CLECs have become “marginalized” because they must “rely on the ubiquitous Bell network”—a network that remains largely closed to new entrants.
  “[T]here has been ‘carnage’ among CLEC stocks,”
 and numerous competitive LECs have filed for bankruptcy.

Unless Verizon and other incumbents can very quickly be discouraged from pursuing their anticompetitive campaigns to raise potential rivals’ costs and to degrade the quality of their service offerings, the nation’s local telephone consumers will be denied the enormous benefits of competitive choice.  The antitrust laws were, of course, designed to prevent just such anticompetitive behavior.  

ATX and other CLECs have thus filed antitrust lawsuits against Verizon and other BOCs in reliance on settled law and the 1996 Act’s antitrust savings clause.  As MCI claimed in its antitrust lawsuits against the Bell System, these CLECs maintain that BOCs control essential facilities, have acted in bad faith to deny reasonable access to those facilities, and have otherwise monopolized local telephone markets through a series of predatory or exclusionary actions.  If ATX and other CLECs are barred from pursuing antitrust claims, Verizon and other ILECs will have effectively been granted the very immunity from antitrust liability that Congress expressly denied them.  See Trinko v. Bell Atlantic, 305 F.3d 89, 109, 112 (2d Cir. 2002); Covad v. BellSouth, 299 F.3d 1272, 1280-81 (11th Cir. 2002).  Such immunity would allow not only the continued monopolization of traditional local voice services, but also the prospect of monopolization of the next generation of advanced telecommunications services.

This court should reject Verizon’s attempts to rely on dicta in Goldwasser v. Ameritech, 222 F.3d 390 (7th Cir. 2000), that has since been rejected by both the Second and Eleventh Circuits.  Both courts have correctly held that where, as here, complaints allege bad faith denials of reasonable access to essential facilities or other predatory conduct, the complaints state claims for monopolization and cannot be dismissed on the ground that the challenged conduct is subject only to the 1996 Act.  The decisions of Trinko and Covad were compelled by uniform prior decisions of the Third Circuit and other courts of appeals and by the antitrust savings clause of the 1996 Act.  They should be followed here.

ARGUMENT TC "ARGUMENT" \f C \l "1" 
I.
As The Second And The Eleventh Circuits Have Recently Confirmed, There Is No Basis For A Ruling That The 1996 Act Bars ATX’s Antitrust Claims.
Verizon contends that the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Goldwasser compels the conclusion that the 1996 Act somehow divested the federal courts of their well-recognized authority to entertain claims that an incumbent telephone monopolist’s exclusionary interconnection policies violate the antitrust laws.  But Goldwasser did not so hold.  And such a proposition has been specifically rejected by two other courts of appeals.  

In Goldwasser, the plaintiffs alleged that Ameritech violated the Sherman Act solely because its interconnection practices fell short of the requirements of the 1996 Act.  Id. at 394-95.  Goldwasser observed that the 1996 Act requires ILECs to cooperate in a number of ways with competitors who request access to incumbents’ networks, that antitrust laws generally do not require cooperation with competitors, and that mere allegations of violations of the 1996 Act do not automatically violate the Sherman Act.  Id. at 398-400.  Goldwasser thus ruled that the plaintiffs in that case had failed to state an antitrust claim.  

This narrow holding of Goldwasser is both correct and irrelevant to this case.  As the Second Circuit stated, “it is clear that a plaintiff would not state an antitrust claim against a defendant simply by alleging that the defendant violated its duties under section 251,” Trinko, 305 F.3d at 108, and the Eleventh Circuit “agree[s] with Goldwasser that merely pleading violations of the 1996 Act alone will not suffice to plead Sherman Act violations,” Covad, 299 F.3d at 1283.

But Goldwasser also contains dicta suggesting that predatory and exclusionary conduct by an incumbent monopoly cannot be challenged under the antitrust laws if the conduct is also subject to the 1996 Act.  Id. at 401.  In particular, Goldwasser suggested that allegations of bad faith denials of reasonable access to essential facilities should be dismissed if they are “inextricably linked” to conduct that is regulated under the 1996 Act and that “background antitrust laws can move to the fore” only after the FCC finds “that local markets have . . . become sufficiently competitive that the transitional regulatory regime can be dismantled.”  Id. at 401-02.  This position is not only contrary to established law, it is logically unsound.  Indeed, under that topsy-turvy view of the law, ILECs would be immunized from antitrust scrutiny so long as they remain monopolists, and could be sued for monopolization only after they lose their monopolies.  To be clear, the dicta of Goldwasser constitutes neither precedential nor persuasive authority in this case.

Yet Verizon has adopted Goldwasser’s rationale in moving to dismiss ATX’s antitrust claim.  Both the Second and the Eleventh Circuit have repudiated this dicta because it would grant ILECs’ the very immunity from the antitrust laws that Congress enacted the antitrust savings clause in the 1996 Act to prevent.  Trinko, 305 F.3d at 109, 112; Covad, 299 F.3d at 1280-81.

The Eleventh Circuit stated that “we cannot agree with Goldwasser to the extent that it is read to say that a Sherman Act antitrust claim cannot be brought as a matter of law on the basis of an allegation of anti-competitive conduct that happens to be ‘intertwined’ with obligations established by the 1996 Act.”  Covad, 299 F.3d at 1282.  As the Second Circuit held, “there is no requirement that an allegation that otherwise states an antitrust claim must not rely on allegations that might also state a claim under another statute.”  Trinko, 305 F.3d at 109.  “[A]s long as a set of allegations states an antitrust action on its own terms, the fact that it closely resembles an action brought under another statute in itself is unproblematic.”  Id.  Thus, the decisive factor here is that ATX’s allegations state a valid antitrust claim on their own terms.

II.
ATX’s Allegations State Claims Under The Sherman Act.

ATX’s allegations state classic Sherman Act violations that are indistinguishable from the bad faith denials of reasonable access to essential facilities that the Third Circuit and other courts previously held to state § 2 claims against local telephone monopolists.  The allegations in ATX’s complaint must, of course, be accepted as true in ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6).  In re Rockefeller Ctr. Props., Inc. Sec. Litig., 311 F.3d 198, 205-206 (3d Cir. 2002).  And the complaint states classic § 2 violations.

Section 2 of the Sherman Act prohibits monopolists from “the willful acquisition or maintenance of [monopoly] power as distinguished from growth or development as a consequence of a superior product, business acumen, or historic accident.”  United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966).  Conduct by a monopolist violates § 2 if it is “exclusionary,” “anticompetitive,” or “predatory” (Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 U.S. 585, 602 (1985)):  that is, if it “tends to impair the opportunities of rivals . . . [and] either does not further competition on the merits or does so in an unnecessarily restrictive way.”  Id at 605 n.32; see also Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 1002.  Courts have long recognized that exclusionary conduct can take many forms.  The fact that a monopolist’s conduct can be linguistically characterized as a failure to take an “affirmative” act does not mean it does not violate the antitrust laws if it is also exclusionary or predatory.  The Third Circuit has held that unilateral refusals to deal violate § 2 when they are exclusionary, see Bonjorno v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corp., 752 F.2d 802, 808 (3d Cir. 1984), and other courts agree, see United States v. Microsoft, 253 F.3d 34, 70 (D.C. Cir. 2001); Virginia Vermuculite, Ltd. v. W.R. Grace & Co.—Conn., 156 F.3d 535, 539-40 (4th Cir. 1998); Nat’l Indep. Theatre Exhibitors v. Charter Fin. Group, Inc., 747 F.2d 1396, 1402 (11th Cir. 1984); Covad, 299 F.2d at 1284; Trinko, 305 F.3d at 108.

ATX’s complaint alleges the essential elements of a § 2 monopolization claim:  (1) that Verizon possesses monopoly power over local telecommunications markets in the Northeastern and Mid-Atlantic states, Countercl. ¶¶ 230, 252-53, 263-64, 269, and (2) that Verizon has engaged in exclusionary and predatory behavior in order to strengthen or preserve that monopoly power, id. ¶¶ 7, 70, 90, 195, 213, 216, 230, 236.  Moreover, ATX has alleged that Verizon’s telephone markets are essential facilities that have no practical substitute and cannot be adequately duplicated.  See id. ¶¶ 256-57, 266-67, 269.  Indeed, ATX alleges an entire course of Verizon conduct that has no legitimate business purpose and that unnecessarily impairs the efforts of ATX and others to compete for customers.
ATX alleges that Verizon (1) offers markedly inferior telecommunications services access to facilities to ATX and other CLECs in the relevant markets, see Countercl. ¶¶ 273, 275; (2) unreasonably and improperly billed ATX and its customers for services Verizon never provided, id. ¶¶ 282, 334, 336; (3) unreasonably denied access to last-mile facilities in bad faith, id. ¶¶ 286-87, 350; (4) intentionally and predatorily delayed, denied, and anticompetitively priced access to essential facilities without which ATX cannot compete for customers, id. ¶¶ 274, 279-81, 289-90, 298-300, 325-27, 329-30; (5) withheld information and support from ATX necessary to service customers in an effort to increase ATX’s costs of operations, id. ¶¶ 288, 291-96, 302, 305, 332-33, 335, 337, 351; and (6) refused to deal on reasonable terms and conditions, id. ¶¶ 306-24, 349.  ATX also makes specific allegations that the challenged conduct harms consumers and competition, has no legitimate business purpose and is intended only to preserve and extend Verizon’s local monopolies.  Id. ¶¶ 301, 307, 326-27, 338-40, 353-56.  This complaint easily satisfies any requirement that a complaint specifically plead exclusionary conduct and adverse effects on competition.  Indeed, while ATX’s complaint makes explicit such allegations, Rule 12 requires courts to “presume that the general allegations in the complaint encompass the specific facts necessary to support those allegations.”  Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 104 (1998).

The conduct alleged by ATX is also indistinguishable from the bad faith denials of reasonable access to essential facilities that the Third Circuit and other courts previously held to state § 2 claims against local telephone monopolists.  See, e.g., Essential Communications, 610 F.2d at 1115-16 (denial of collocation of telephone equipment); id. at 1116 (delay in furnishing telephone services to plaintiff’s customers); id. (causing service difficulties to plaintiff’s customers); Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 1008 (bad faith denials of access to local loops and other essential facilities); MCI, 708 F.2d at 1141-46 (same); Litton, 700 F.2d at 815 (same).  Indeed, the prior cases also hold that the other predatory conduct that ATX alleges such as withholding essential information is independently actionable under § 2 of the Sherman Act.  E.g., Litton, 700 F.2d at 814; id. (delaying installation of competitor’s equipment); id. at 810-12 (misrepresenting own services); id. at 816 (delaying customer’s transfer orders for competitors).

It is well settled that predatory conduct by a monopolist is actionable under the Sherman Act even if it also violates other regulatory statutes.  These decisions also reject Verizon’s claim that predatory conduct cannot be actionable under the antitrust laws if it violates some other statute.  The access denials and delays at issue in the MCI and Sprint cases had been held by the FCC and the Courts to violate the Communications Act (see MCI, 708 F.2d at 1097, 1136), and the FCC found that the access denials at issue in the Litton case violated the Communications Act.  Litton, 700 F.2d at 810-11.  And in Essential Communications, the Third Circuit noted that the plaintiff’s antitrust allegations may well violate the FCC regulations as well.  610 F.2d at 1122.  Indeed, there are a vast array of cases in which courts have held that predatory conduct by a monopolist is actionable under the Sherman Act even if it also violates other regulatory statutes. 

Courts have so held in antitrust cases where the defendant’s conduct also violated the Interstate Commerce Act, see Farley Transportation Co. v. Santa Fe Trail Transportation Co., 786 F.2d 1342, 1348 (9th Cir. 1986) (pricing below the ICC’s minimum tariff regulations violated both the Interstate Commerce Act and the Sherman Act), the patent laws, see, e.g., Walker Process Equipment, Inc. v. Food Machinery & Chemical Corp., 382 U.S. 172 (1965), laws barring sham litigation, see, e.g., St. Joseph’s Hospital v. Hospital Corp. of America, 795 F.2d 948 (11th Cir. 1986), and laws barring false and misleading advertising, see, e.g., International Travel Arrangers, Inc. v. Western Airlines, 623 F.2d 1255, 1262-64, 1270 (8th Cir. 1980).  See also Otter Tail Power Co. v. United States, 410 U.S. 366 (1973).  Indeed, it is hornbook law that “where conduct contributes to establishing or maintaining monopoly power, a court will be especially likely to find that conduct predatory or anticompetitive if it is also improper for reasons extrinsic to the antitrust laws.”  1 Antitrust Law Developments 249 (5th ed. 2002); see also id. at 294 n.384.

Notably, Verizon does not deny that ATX’s allegations of bad faith denials of access to essential facilities and of other predatory conduct are indistinguishable from those at issue in prior decisions.  Rather, Verizon attempts to distinguish MCI, Otter Tail, and other essential facilities cases on the ground that they purportedly involved regulatory schemes in which there was more limited regulatory oversight over the incumbent monopolist than is provided under the 1996 Act.  But see Trinko, 305 F.3d at 110-11 (noting similarity between Federal Power Act’s regulation in Otter Tail and 1996 Act).  On this basis, Verizon asserts that ATX could not allege “an anticompetitive effect,” for the antitrust laws purportedly could “add nothing” to the oversight provided by regulation under the 1996 Act.

But this is simply an argument that the purportedly pervasive regulation that exists under the 1996 Act immunizes the ILECs’ conduct from antitrust liability.  However, Congress expressly inserted an antitrust savings clause into the 1996 Act to preclude any such holdings.

Enforcing the antitrust laws promotes, rather than undermines the Telecommunications Act.  Moreover, Verizon is simply wrong that the antitrust laws add nothing to the regulation under the 1996 Act or that there is any material distinction between this case and the earlier MCI and other cases.  In MCI, as here, the antitrust plaintiff had taken advantage of “entitlements” to provide competitive services that were created by regulations that authorized competing services and that imposed access obligations on the incumbents.  In MCI, as here, the allegation is that rather than comply with those regulations in good faith, the incumbent monopolist engaged in bad faith delays and denials of access and other predatory conduct that were undertaken solely to prevent or impede competition on the merits.  In MCI, as here, regulation created access rights and regulatory authorities theoretically could, given sufficient time, adopt rules that would prospectively enjoin each of the predatory and exclusionary practices in which the BOC engaged—and the FCC had in fact done so in MCI.  

But regulation cannot redress the competitive harms that result in the interim when BOCs predatorily delay implementation of reasonable access arrangements solely to harm competitors, when they actively obstruct competitors’ operations, or when they respond to a regulatory decision that enjoins one specific form of misconduct by shifting to another form of anticompetitive conduct.  Because antitrust law addresses these forms of misconduct and imposes treble damages and other liabilities that deter them, it is an essential complement to regulatory efforts to create competition in markets where incumbents control bottleneck facilities.  As the DC Circuit has held, “[t]he regulatory agencies are not always able to respond to alleged abuses immediately and effectively,” and antitrust plays an essential role in addressing bad faith refusals to deal and other predatory conduct that the incumbent has potent incentives to engage in, irrespective of its regulatory duties.  Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 1001.  And the Third Circuit has noted that “where the antitrust claim for prospective relief is advanced on behalf of an equipment supplier rather than a Bell System customer, undue deference to the agency may be even less appropriate.”  Essential Communications, 610 F.2d at 1122.

Notably, Verizon makes no claim that it believed that any of its predatory conduct was required by the 1996 Act or regulations adopted under it.  But if Verizon were to contend that it had a good faith and reasonable belief that conduct was mandated by regulatory obligations, that is a defense that Verizon could interpose at trial (or on summary judgment).  It is not grounds for a motion to dismiss.  Id. at 1124 (“we are not prepared to hold, at the pleadings stage of an antitrust suit,” that the antitrust laws would conflict with the FCC’s rules); Southern Pac., 740 F.2d at 987-88; MCI, 708 F.2d at 1101; Mid-Texas, 615 F.2d at 1377.  Thus, the Second and Eleventh Circuits correctly held that there is no basis for any assertion that antitrust claims “would substantially disrupt the regulatory proceedings mandated by the Telecommunications Act.”  Trinko, 305 F.3d at 111; accord Covad, 299 F.3d at 1282 n.8.  

Further, while Verizon’s claim that regulation precludes a finding of “anticompetitive effect” is wrong as a matter of law, Verizon also ignores ATX’s express allegations of anticompetitive effects.  See Countercl. ¶¶ 301, 307, 326-27, 338-40, 353-56.  Because these allegation must be taken as true, ATX’s complaint plainly “satisfies the ‘exceedingly low’ threshold of sufficiency that a complaint must meet to survive a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim.”  Covad, 299 F.3d at 1288; accord Trinko, 305 F.3d at 108; see also Essential Communications, 610 F.2d at 1124 (“We hold only that the plaintiff could under the complaint prove some state of facts which might warrant injunctive relief under the antitrust laws, and that the complaint should not have been dismissed on the ground that the FCC tariffs made the defendants’ activities exempt from antitrust scrutiny.”).  Verizon’s allegations about the effects of regulation or the reasonableness of its own conduct are matters that may only “be addressed at a later stage of the proceedings, such as summary judgment or trial.”  Covad, 299 F.3d at 1286; accord Trinko, 305 F.3d at 108; see also Essential Communications, 610 F.2d at 1124.

Verizon’s remaining objections are baseless.  Finally, Verizon raises several other baseless arguments.  First, Verizon’s argument that ATX has not alleged two “relevant markets” is simply incorrect.  In its Counterclaim, ATX alleges that Verizon used its power in the market for last-mile facilities, Countercl. ¶¶ 230, 266, to foreclose competition in the market for telecommunications services such as exchange service, voicemail, forwarding, speed dialing, and caller identification, id. ¶ 258.  ATX alleges two separate markets just as two separate markets were at issue in MCI.  Just as the FCC’s Specialized Common Carrier decision took what had been a monopoly over all end to end telephone services and created separate markets for local and long distance telecommunications, the 1996 Act has created separate markets for the local facilities over which the ILECs have bottleneck control and the downstream local services that use these and other essential inputs.  Here, as in MCI, BOCs are using their control over bottleneck facilities to prevent competition in downstream markets.  
Second, contrary to Verizon’s claim, an essential facilities claim does not require an allegation of a complete denial of access.  To support this proposition, Verizon relies upon Ideal Dairy Farms, Inc. v. John Labatt, Ltd., 90 F.3d 737 (3d Cir. 1996).  But the plaintiffs in Ideal Dairy alleged only that they were overcharged under their contract for the services they received.  They did not allege, as ATX does here, that the defendant intentionally and predatorily delayed and anticompetitively priced and provisioned access to essential facilities without which ATX cannot compete for customers, id. ¶¶ 274, 279-81, 289-90, 298-300, 325-27, 329-30.  Moreover, as Verizon acknowledges, and as the Eleventh Circuit found, Ideal Dairy involved a motion for summary judgment rather than a motion to dismiss.  Covad, 299 F.3d at 1287 & n.13.

Thus, Verizon is left to rely on a Pennsylvania district court’s brief interpretation of Ideal Dairy, which held that poor services did not constitute a “constructive denial” of services.  But such a holding makes no sense and should not be adopted in this case.  Initially, ATX does allege, as did the plaintiffs in Covad, that Verizon has denied access to particular services and facilities, in addition to denying access upon reasonable terms for other services and facilities so as to amount to a denial of services.  See Covad, 299 F.3d at 1287 & n.13.  For example, ATX alleges that Verizon denied ATX access to Verizon’s “last mile” facilities for over 16 months.  See Countercl. ¶ 274.  ATX also alleges that Verizon “unreasonably obstructs and delays the installation of both virtual and physical collocation by ATX.”  Id. ¶ 279.  ATX alleges that “Verizon conceded that it could not competently convert to UNE-P all ATX customers in Pennsylvania that ATX then wished to convert.”  Id. ¶ 294.  And ATX alleges that Verizon “has frequently refused to make available to competitive telephone companies products and services [such as voicemail] that the telecommunications statutes or regulations do not explicitly require it to offer” in an attempt to deny ATX full access to essential facilities.  Id. ¶¶ 306, 308, 314.

Moreover, if antitrust liability could only be imposed by a monopolist that absolutely denies access to essential facilities, then the monopolist could simply offer “access” at a patently unreasonable price or on patently unreasonable terms and conditions.  This would preclude competition just the same as an absolute denial of access.  If Verizon’s view were correct, however, such denials would be immunized from antitrust scrutiny.  The antitrust laws, of course, do not elevate form over substance in this way.  See, e.g., United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 366 U.S. 316, 332-33 (1961); Alvord-Polk, Inc. v. F. Schumacher & Co., 37 F.3d 996, 1007 (3rd Cir. 1993) (“antitrust policy requires the courts to seek the economic substance of an arrangement, not merely its form.”).  Indeed, Verizon’s interpretation of Ideal Dairy has been rejected by the decisions of other courts which have upheld antitrust liability based upon findings of discriminatory access.  For example, in Litton, 700 F.2d 785, the court upheld a jury verdict based upon the Bell System’s practice of insisting that telephone customers connect equipment purchased from AT&T’s competitors to the network only through the use of a device designed by AT&T (that was not required to connect AT&T equipment to the network).  Verizon’s view was also rejected in Southern Pac., which held that antitrust laws prohibit the Bell System from “unreasonably and discriminatorily restricting access to these essential facilities.”  740 F.2d 980 (citing Otter Tail, 410 U.S. 366; United States v. Terminal R.R. Ass’n, 224 U.S. 383 (1912); Hecht v. Pro-Football, Inc., 570 F.2d 982, 992-93 (D.C. Cir. 1977); MCI, 708 F.2d at 1132-33; AT&T, 524 F. Supp. at 1352-53).  See also City of Chanute, Kansas v. Williams Natural Gas Co., 955 F.2d 641, 648 (10th Cir. 1992) (antitrust laws violated if defendant “denied or limited access to” essential facility) (citing Terminal R.R., 224 U.S. at 411; Hecht, 570 F.2d at 992-93), overruled on other grounds, Systemcare, Inc. v. Wang Labs. Corp., 117 F.3d 1137 (10th Cir. 1997); Alaska Airlines, Inc. v. United Airlines, Inc., 948 F.2d 536, 545 (9th Cir. 1991); Delaware & Hudson Ry. Co. v. Consol. Rail Corp., 902 F.2d 174, 179-80 (2d Cir. 1990) (“there need not be an outright refusal to deal in order to find that denial of an essential facility occurred”).

Finally, Verizon argues that the essential facilities doctrine applies only when the plaintiff seeks to “share” facilities, and not when the plaintiff seeks “exclusive” use of facilities, as ATX purportedly did when it sought to lease entire unbundled loops.  But that precise situation was presented in MCI.  There, MCI leased the entire capacity of particular unbundled loops in order to provide private line service to its customers.  This fell within the essential facilities doctrine because MCI was not seeking exclusive use of Bell Atlantic’s entire loop plant (which serves millions of customers), but only of the facilities required to serve MCI’s customers.

CONCLUSION TC "CONCLUSION" \f C \l "1" 
For the reasons stated above, Verizon’s motion to dismiss ATX’s antitrust counterclaim should be denied.
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